
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF UGANDA
ATMENGO

■i

CIVIL APPEAL NO.8 OF 1998

BETWEEN

BANCO ARABE ESPANO I APPELLANT«*■

A N D
BANK OF UGANDA RESPONDENT

*

JUDGEMENT OF ODER. J.S.C. <

1
*

*

(Appeal from the decision and orders of 
the Court of Appeal at Kampala

(Manyindo. D.C.J.; Engwau. J.A. and Twinomujuni, J.A.)
in

Civil Appeal No.23 of 1998, dated 1.12.1998)

This is a second appeal. It is brought against the decision of the Court of Appeal which 
overturned the High Court’s decision and orders reinstating the appellants suit against the 
respondent Bank of Uganda. The suit had been dismissed on the ground that the 
appellant failed to deposit security for costs within the period ordered by the High Court.

After paying two installments of the loan, the Uganda Government defaulted on the loan 
* agreement. Consequently, the appellant sued the Uganda Government and the 

respondent in the High Court of Uganda for recovery of the loan. By a formal 
aonlication in the High Court both the Uganda Government and the respondent objected, 
to the suit on the ground that it was time-barred. Only the Uganda Government’s

(CORAM: ODER, J.S.C; TSEKOOKO, J.S.C.; KAROKORA, J.S.C.;
MULENGA. J.S.C. AND KANYEIHAMBA, J.S.C.)
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'*■ The Background to the appeal is as follows: By a loan agreement dated 11.11.89 the 
appellant lent and the Uganda Government borrowed United States Dollars one million 
(USS 1,000,000/=). Repayment of the loan was guaranteed by the respondent. The 
appellant is a Spanish bank carrying orsbanking business in Spain.
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application was successful. In a ruling delivered on 21.11.97, the High Court dismissed 
the suit against the Government. The respondent’s application failed, and the Court 
ordered that the suit against it should proceed to trial.

Thereafter the respondent on 15.12.97 applied to the High Court for an order that the 
appellant should deposit security for costs. The application succeeded arid the appellant 
was ordered to pay a deposit of shs.20,000,000/= at the High Court as security for costs 
within 30 days from 16.1.97, the date of the order.

On 13.2.98 the appellant deposited at the High Court a bank guarantee issued by the 
Tropical Africa Bank Ltd. promising payment of shs.20,000,000/= as security for costs. 
The bank guarantee was rejected by the Registrar of the High Court for not being a cash 
deposit, which the,court had ordered. Consequently, the suit was dismissed on 25.2.98.

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in law and fact when they held there 
was not sufficient cause for reinstatement of the suit by the High Court.

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in fact and law when they failed to 
reappraise, evaluate and consider the evidence for failure to deposit the money for 
security for costs in time which evidence was not rebutted in the High Court by an 
affidavit in reply.

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in fact and law when they look 
additional evidence on appeal without leave of court of a letter from the appellant’s 
firm of advocates dated 13.2.98 which was not legally addressed in the High Court by 
an affidavit in reply.

■v.-
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Eight grounds of appeal are set out in the Memorandum of Appeal. As amended with 
leave of the Court, the grounds are to the effect that:

Thereafter the appellant on 25.2.98 applied to the High Court for orders to set aside the 
dismissal of, and to reinstate, the suit. The application was based on several grounds, to 
which I shall revert later in this judgement. It was heard and granted on 27.5.98, 
resulting in an order setting aside, and reinstating, the suit. On the occasion the High 
Court made that order, the respondent made an informal application for leave to appeal. 
The application for leave was granted, following which the respondent appealed to the 
Court of Appeal against the High Court orders setting aside the dismissal and reinstating 
the suit. The appeal succeeded, as a result of which the Court of Appeal reversed the 
High Court order reinstating the suit, and made an order dismissing the suit with costs. 
Hence this appeal.

r-"

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in law when they interfered in the 
exercise of the discretion of trial judge to set aside the dismissal order of the suit and 
to order a reinstatement of the suit.

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in law when they took judicial 
notice of the fact that bureaucratic procedures and delays in money transfers were an
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In this regard, Mr. Semuyaba also submitted that the affidavits in support of the 
appellant's application for setting aside the suit was not rebutted by the only affidavit in 

‘ reply sworn by Mathia Sekatawa on 27.5.98. Moreover, to that affidavit was annexed a 
document not commissioned by a Commissioner for Oaths.

The learned Justice of the Court of Appeal erred in law and fact when they heard the 
appeal from an unreasoned order contrary to rule 86(1 )(g) of the Court of Appeal 
Rules Directions 1996.

The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred both in fact and law when they 
awarded the respondents costs of the appeal in the trial court.

afterthought and untenable when there was no evidence in rebuttal from the 
respondent in the trial court.
The learned trial Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in fact and law when they 
dismissed the suit in the Lower Court while it was partly heard and the appellant had 
closed its case.

Mr. Justine Semuyaba, learned counsel for the appellant argued the first, second, third, 
fourth and fifth grounds of appeal together. In my view he rightly did so because the first 
five grounds raise two main issues, namely, first, whether the Court of Appeal failed in 
its duty as the first appellate court to re-evaluate the evidence in this case, resulting in a 
wrong decision. Second, whether the Court of Appeal wrongfully interfered with 
exercise of discretion by the trial Court. In his submission, the learned counsel contended 
that the appellant’s application in the High Court for setting aside the dismissal of the suit 
together with the affidavits filed in support of the application showed that there was 
sufficient cause justifying the High Court decision to act as it did. Following the court 
order for security for costs the appellant was under a mistaken belief that a guarantee 
would suffice as security for costs before money was deposited in cash. Secondly, as 
Justo Trashorras Diaz said in his affidavit of 6.5.98, the delay in paying money for 
security for costs was caused by problems in money transfer internationally. Third, the 
appellant applied for extension of time within which to furnish the security for costs 
ordered by the court, but the application was not heard before the suit was dismissed. 
These, the learned counsel contended, constituted sufficient cause for purposes of 0.23,r: 
2(2). For authorities on application of 0.23, .2(2) the learned counsel cited A.I.R. 
Commentries on Code of Civil Procedure, page 550, by Chitaley and Rao; G. M. 
Combined (U) Ltd, and others vs. A. K. Detergents (U) Ltd. Misc. Application No.760/97 
(CAU) (unreported) and Eltawjick Trading Co. I-s Libyan Arab (U) Bank and Another 
H.CC S. No. J38/85.

Another aspect of this case concerning which the appellant's counsel made submission is 
the duty of an appellate court in dealing with discretion already exercised by a trial court 
under 0.23 r.2(2). He said that a party wishing to convince an appellate court to interfere 
with the exercise of discretion by such a court must show that it has suffered injustice. 
Mere difference of opinion is not enough. The applicant has to show that the trial court 
arrived at a wrong decision causing injustice and that the applicant has been mistreated 
b allowing a reinstatement of the dismissed suit. The learned counsel relied on Shah v
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Adlou.OsmtlQllJL1947) ,14, EACA, 45; Uganda Development Bank v National Insurance 
Corporatioi] md_G,__M._Conibi)ied, Civil Appeal No.28/95 9CAU)(unreported); G. M. 
Combined and_ others v_ A. K. Detergents (U) Ltd., Misc. Application No. 760/97 
(HC U) (unreported).

-rr;

It is also contended for the appellant that the colossal amount of money involved was 
another reason justifying setting aside the dismissal of the suit. This point was made in 
the High Court at the hearing of the application for setting aside the dismissal of the suit. 
G. M. Combined (U) Ltd, (supra) was also referred to.

For the respondent, its learned counsel, Mr. Masembe Kanyereze, also argued in his 
reply, the first, second, third, fourth and fifth grounds together. He submitted that it was 
clear from the order for security for costs that it was money, not a bank guarantee which 
was required to be deposited in court. Courts have discretion to order for any form of 
security for costs, but in the instant case, it was money, which was to be deposited by the 
appellant. The last date for doing so was 26.2.98. When the suit next came for hearing 
on 25.2.98 the respondent had not yet deposited money in court. So, the suit was 
dismissed although the appellant’s application for extension of time was pending in the 
High Court. Mr. Kanyereze submitted that the operation of 0.23 r.2(2) is mandatory. 
Once security for costs is not deposited within the time fixed for doing so, it is mandatory 
for the trial court to dismiss the suit. Patrick Njoroge Nguri v Livingstone Mithui (1955), 
22,EACA, 43. However, where a suit is dismissed the plaintiff may apply to set aside the 
dismissal. But courts discretion to do so is circumscribed in that setting aside of a 
dismissal can be done only on sufficient cause. The respondent in the instant case made 
such an application. The question is whether the application was supported by sufficient 
cause. It was not, in the respondent’s view.

In the instant case, it is contended for the appellant that the respondent also had to show 
to the Court of Appeal that the learned trial judge used wrong reasons. This the 
respondent did not do.

In this connection the respondent's learned counsel submitted that the reasons given by 
the appellant in support of its application for setting aside the dismissal were 
contradictory. On the one hand, it was said in paragraph 9 of Birungi Wyclife’s affidavit 
of 27.2.98 that money for security for costs was not deposited in court because of a 
mistaken belief on the part of the appellant’s counsel that a bank guarantee would suffice 
in place of cash deposit as security for costs. On the other hand, as stated in paragraphs 
4, 5 and 9 of Justo Trashorras Diaz's affidavit dated 6.5.98, the appellant did not deposit 
money in time because of bureaucratic procedures involved in approving payment of 
money and delays in making international money transfers. The two reasons, it is 
contended, were irreconcilable. Contrary to the appellant's contention, the bank 
guarantee was not deposited pending arrival of money. This is clear from the letter dated 
13 2.98 addressed by the appellant's lawyers, M/s Birungi, Semuyaba, Iga & Co. 
Advocates to the respondent's lawyers M/s Mugerwa & Matovu, Advocates. The letter 
said inter alia, that the appellant had opted for a guarantee as security for costs. A copy 
of the bank guarantee was forwarded with the letter. No mention was made of difficulty
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It is further submitted that the appellant could institute a new suit if it fails to have the 
Court of Appeal's decision reversed. Courts are more stringent when deciding whether to 
reinstate a suit dismissed under 0.23 r.2 where.a plaintiff can start a new suit than where 
the plaintiff cannot. Shabir Din vRam Prakash Arand (1955) 22 EACA, 48

Moreover, it is said, the High Court did not help matters. The learned trial judge did not 
indicate which of the appellant's irreconcilable reasons amounted to sufficient cause to 
support the court's decision.

On exercise of a trial court's discretion-and role of an appellate court, the learned counsel 
referred to Peters v Sunday Post Ltd. (1958) EA 423 at 429 and 430.

Order 23, rule 2(2) under which the High Court reinstated the appellant's suit, provides as 
follows:

in transmission of money. In accordance with the provisions of section 101 of the 
Evidence Act, the appellant had the duty to prove its case to justify reinstatement of its 
case. This it did not do, it is contended.

e
• ■

"2(2) where a suit is dismissed under this rule, the plaintiff may apply for 
an order to set aside the dismissal, and, if it is proved to the satisfaction 
of the court that he was prevented by any sufficient cause from 
furnishing the security within the time allowed, the court shall set aside 
the dismissal upon such terms as to security, costs or otherwise as it 
thinks fit, and shall appoint a day for proceeding with the trial."

The respondent's learned counsel then criticised the appellant's claim in Diaz's affidavit 
of 6.5P8 that remission of money was delayed by bureaucratic procedure. The affidavit 
did not clarify whether the bureaucratic procedure related to Spanish law or to the 
appellant's own internal procedure. If the delay was caused by the appellant’s own 
bureaucratic procedure, it was not sufficient cause. Bureaucracy had to be something 
intrinsic. It was not shown by evidence that the process of remitting money was started 
early enough to comply with the time limit fixed by the High Court., Where a plaintiff is 
ordered to deposit security for costs within a stipulated period, compliance with the order 
is mandatory. Patrick Njoroge Nguri (supra).

The suit was reinstated upon a successful application by the appellant. The application 
was supported by affidavit evidence, which the learned trial judge accepted to have 
shown sufficient cause. The appellant now complains that the court of Appeal reversed 
the reinstatement because, inter alia, it failed to reappraise, evaluate and consider the 
evidence for the appellant’s failure to deposit the money for security in time. It is 
contended that that evidence was not rebutted by affidavit in reply. By this the appellant 
is urging this court to re-appraise the relevant evidence. It is on the basis of the evidence 
adduced by both sides that the court would decide whether the appellant proved or did 
not prove sufficient cause for reinstatement of its suit.
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In the same case the court also said.

6

In my opinion the duty of a first appellate court as restated in the case of Kifannmte 
(supra) applies to re-appraisal or re-evaluation of evidence by affidavit as well as to 
evidence by oral testimony, except, of course, that impression of demeanor of witnesses 
does not arise in the case of affidavit evidence.

29(1) on any appeal from a decision of a High Court acting in the exercise 
of its original jurisdiction, the court may
(a) re-appraise the evidence and draw inference of fact;
(b) in its discretion, for sufficient reason take additional evidence or direct 

that additional evidence be taken by the trad Court or by a commissioner;

The duty of the Court of Appeal to re-appraise evidence on an appeal from the High 
Court in its original jurisdiction is set out in rule 29 of the Rules of the Com! of Appeal 
as follows:

"Wc agree that on first appeal ...the appellant is entitled to have the 
appellant's own consideration and views of the evidence as a whole and 
its own decision thereon The first appellate court has a duty to rehear 
the case and to reconsider the materials before the trial judge. The 
appellate court must then make up its own mind not disregarding the 
judgement appealed from but carefully weighing and considering it. 
When the question arises which witness is to be believed rather than 
another and that question turns on manner and demeanor, the appellate 
court must be guided by the impression made on the judge who saw the 
witness but there may be other circumstances quite apart from the 
manner and demeanor which may show whether a statement is credible 
or not which may warrant a court in differing from the judge even on a 
question of fact turning on credibility of witness which the appellate 
court has not seen. Sec Pundya v R (1957) E.A 336; Okenovs Republic 
(1972 E.A. 32; and Charles BL Bitwi/c v Uganda Criminal Appeal 
No.23/85 9SCU)(unreportcd)."

"It does not seem to us that except in’ the clearest of cases, we arc 
required to rc-cvaluatc the evidence like a first appellate Court. On 
second appeal it is sufficient to decide whether the first appellate court

This court recently restated the application of this rule in the case of Kifamunte Henry v 
Uganda Crim. Appl. No. 10 97 (SCU)(unreported). Although the principles stated therein 
were in respect of a criminal appeal, there can'be no doubt that they equally apply to civil 
appeals. On a first appeal, an appellant is entitled to have the appellate court's own 
consideration and views of the evidence as a whole and its own decision thereon. In 
Kifamunte Henry (supra) this coni said: ’
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In the instant case, the grounds of the appellant’s application for reinstatement of the suit 
' were set out in the Notice of Motion as follows:

The same principles were echoed by the Court in subsequent cases. See Bogere Moses 
and Anor v Uganda (Cr. Appl. No. 1'97 (SCU)(unreported) and Bogere Charles v 
Uganda, Cr. Appl. No. 10/98 (SCU) (unreported).

(b) The plaintiff through her counsel Birungi, Scmugaba, Iga & Co. 
Advocates on 25 day of February', 1998 applied to extend the time within 
which to provide the security for costs but the court did not hear the 
application.

(c) That on 25th day of February 1998 when the application to extend, the 
time was to be heard, that was the day when the order for dismissal of the 
suit was made before the application could be heard and had the 
application to be heard, the plaintiff would have deposited the money.

i

1
(c) That the plaintiff did not inadvertently fail to deposit security for costs 

because she had already made arrangements with Tropical Africa Bank 
Ltd to furnish the money to court on demand because of the problems of 
involved in transferring money to Uganda."

After referring to provisions of the Judicature Act and the Trial on Indictments Decree, 
which are not relevant to the instant case, the court continued:

(d) That the suit involves a colossal sum of money U.S.$1,413,604.70 and 
therefore it is in the interest of justice that the plaintiff be allowed time to 
deposit the security for costs ordered by the court on 16.1.98.

"This court will no doubt consider the facts of the appeal to the extent of 
considering the relevant point of law or mixed law and fact raised in any 
appeal. If wc rc-cvaluatc the facts of each case wholesale we shall 
assume the duty of the first appellate court and create unnecessary 
certainly. Wc can interfere with the conclusions of the Court of Appeal 
if it appears that in consideration of the appeal as a fist appellate court, 
the Court of Appeal misapplied or failed to apply the principles set out in 
such decisions as Pandya (supra) Ruwala (Supra) Kairu (supra)”.

on approaching its task, applied or failed to apply such principles: See 1). 
R. Pandva vR (1957) E.A. (supra) Kairu v Uganda (1978) H.C.B. 123”

"(a) The plaintiff was prevented by sufficient cause from depositing the 
money for security within the time allowed by the court because it was 
under a mistaken belief that a guarantee would suffice to cater for 
security for costs within reasonable time because she was under an 
ardent belief that a guarantee would cater for security for costs before the 
money was deposited in cash.
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The appellant’s application for reinstatement of the suit was supported by another 
affidavit, namely, that of Justo Trashorras Diaz, dated 6.5.98. The following paragraphs 
of the affidavit are relevant.

That on 16th day of January 199$>whcn this Honourable Court 
ordered the applicant/plaintiff to pay security for costs of 
shs.20,000,000/=. I was present in Uganda.
That thereafter I returned to Spain to make arrangements for 
payment of the money into court.

One affidavit in support of the appellant’s application was deponed to by Birungi 
Wycliffe, the appellant's counsel, on 27.2.98. So far it is relevant, the affidavit stated as 
follows:

J

That on 25 day of February, 1998 counsel for the applicant filed 
in court a guarantee worth 20,000,000/= whose terms were, inter 
alia that the sum of shs.20.000,000/= would be payable on 
demand.
That counsel for the applicant did file the guarantee with the 
Deputy Registrar His Worship Wangutusi who informed counsel 
that he would consult the Judge on the matter.
That on the 20lh day of February 1998 counsel for the applicant 
filed application for extension of time within which to furnish 
security of costs and the said application was scheduled to be 
heard on 25.2.98.
That on the 23rd February; 1998 we received a letter dated 20th 
February. 1998 from His Worship Wangutusi informing us that . 
the Judge had directed that shs.20.000,000/= ... cash be 
deposited in court and not a guarantee.
That on the date for hearing the application for extension of time, 
the learned Judge dismissed the suit.
That the applicant had acted promptly and genuinely by filing a 
guarantee in a bid to satisfy court requirements.
That I am informed that it was a mistaken belief on the part of 
counsel for the plaintiff that a guarantee would suffice for a cash 
deposit and the terms of the guarantee included a provision that 
the money would be payable immediately on demand.
That the case was dismissed before the application for extension 
of time within which to furnish security could be heard and yet 
the application was properly before the court.
That the plaintiff did not inadvertently fail to deposit the said 
shs.20,000,000/= in cash but for the procedures of transferring 
money from the home country' Spain to Uganda which arc 
problematic and take a long time.
That the conduct of the applicant/plaintiff is not dilatory as they 
honestly acted by filing a guarantee.
That I am informed by General Secretary of the plaintiff bank 
Mr. Justo Trashorras is ready and willing to deposit the security 
as cash so ordered by this Honourable court."

‘ 1 •
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The applicant/plaintiff through its advocates M/s Birungi, 
Seinuyaba, Iga and Co. Advocates opted to deposit a'guarantee 
in court instead of cash in clear disregard of the court order. A 
copy of the applicant's counsel's letter dated the 13lh February, 
1998 clearly indicating the basis for depositing the guarantee 
instead of cash is annexed and marked 'A' and a copy of an 
earlier affidavit sworn by the applicant's counsel also clearly 
indicating the reason for depositing the guarantee is annexed and 
marked *B'.
That the applicant's affidavit in support of this application arc 
inconsistent with the earlier averments by the applicant’s counsel 
annexed hereto and should be regarded as being false.
That the averment in paragraph 6 of the affidavit of Justo Diaz in 
support of this application to the effect that the applicant

One affidavit was filed by the respondent in opposition to the appellant's application for 
reinstatement of the suit. The affidavit was deponed to by Mathias Ssekatawa counsel for 
the respondent. So far as it is relevant it stated.

That however, due to the bureaucratic procedures involved in 
approving payment of the money and the delays in making 
international money transfers, the applicant/plaintiff bank was 
unable to send the money within thirty (30) days as was ordered 
by court.
That before the thirty (30) days expired. I instructed our lawyers 
M/s Birungi, Scmuyaba, Iga & Co. Advocates through M/s 
Tropical Africa Bank Ltd. to obtain a guarantee that the money 
would be paid.
That the guarantee was not acceptable to court and the suit was 
dismissed.
That now the applicant/plaintiff bank has managed to send 
draft of shs.20,000,000/=(Twcnty million shillings), 
photocopy of the draft is hereby attached and marked 
'Anncxturc A'.
That it was not intentional to fail to deposit the cash ordered in 
time but it was due to problems involved in sending the money 
to Uganda which process involves infarct procedures of 
approval, communicating to our bankers in London and 
transferring money through a local Ugandan bank.
That we have always been ready and willing to deposit the 
money ordered by court but we were only let down by the 
limited time within the transfer the money.
That I duly communicated to the applicant/plaintiff bank lawyers 
about this fact and instructed them to seek an extension of time 
in court.
That the claim the applicant/plaintiff has against the 
respondent/defendant involves USS 1.413,604.70 and is so 
colossal that in the interests of Justice is prayed to court to 
reinstate the suit in order to have the issues involved judiciously 
adjudicated upon."
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Learned counsel for the respondent has submitted that the bureaucratic 
procedures involved in approving payment of the money and the delays 
in making international money transfers were sufficient of the suit. I do 
not agree as the alleged bureaucratic procedures and delays in money 
transfers were not established. I agree with counsel for appellant that' the 
respondents had no serious intention to pay the security in cash. In my 
view, the alleged bureaucratic procedures and delays in transfers were an 
afterthought.”

"In my view, the crux of the matter in grounds one and two of this appeal 
is whether or not sufficient cause was shown for the reinstatement of the 
main suit. Learned counsel for the appellant rightly, in my view, 
submitted that a guarantee in place of a cash security for costs was not 
enough as it was contrary to the court order. Learned trial judge did not 
say on what basis the suit was reinstated. In view of what I have stated 
above, a guarantee would not be sufficient cause for reinstatement of the 
suit.

Consideration and conclusion of the Court of Appeal on the evidence I have just referred 
to and the respondent's submissions thereon appear in the leading judgement of Engwau,
J. A.:

♦

deposited the guarantee due to difficulties in obtaining approval 
of payment of money and in making international money 
transfers is patently false, as international money transactions 
can be concluded within hours and is also contrary' to his earlier 
affidavit dated the 9th day of January', 1998 stating that the 
applicant is a respectable International Bank with large money 
reserves in New York, USA. A copy of this affidavit is annexed 
and marked 'C.
That the applicants flaunting of clear and explicit court order 
cannot amount to sufficient cause for failure to comply therewith 
and the application for reinstatement of the suit is without 
foundation.
That the applicant is not without remedy as it can file a suit if it 
so wishes on the same facts."

In my opinion the present is one of clear cases in which it is incumbent on this Court to 
re-evaluate the evidence. This is because, with the greatest respect, the Court of Appeal 
failed in its duty, as first court of appeal to subject the evidence in the case to that fresh 
scrutiny which the appellant expected it to do. My reasons for saying so arc given 
hereafter.

I have already set out the appellant's affidavit evidence to support its application for 
reinstatement of the suit. A summary of it is first that there had been a mistaken belief on 
the part of the appellant's counsel that a bank guarantee would suffice instead of a cash 
deoosit in Courts as security for costs. Second, that delays in depositing cash was due to 

roblems in sending money from Spain, a process which involved intricate procedures of
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There can be no doubt that if the appellant opted to deposit a bank guarantee as substitute 
for cash, it did so in clear contravention of the High Court Order. As extracted the order 
said, inter alia:

As I shall show later in this judgement the respondent's affidavit evidence in my view 
failed to controvert the appellant's evidence.

”It is hereby ordered that the respondcnts/plaintiffs do furnish to this Honourable 
Court security to the tune of shs.20,000,000/= (Twenty million shillings) on 
account of the costs this suit within thirty days from the date hereof.”

As I have said already in this judgment the appellant's affidavit evidence was 
controverted by the respondent's evidence in the affidavit of its counsel, Mathias 
Sekatawa, dated 27.5.98. The gist of the contents of the affidavit is first, that the 
appellant opted to deposit a bank guarantee instead of cash, in clear disregard of the High 
Court order. This was clear form the letter dated 13.2.98 addressed by the appellant's 
counsel to the respondent's counsel. The letter was annexed to Ssekatawa's affidavit. 
Depositing a guarantee instead of cash as security for costs amounted to a clear flauting 
of the Court's explicit order. SuchJJauting of the court's order, the affidavit stated, could 
not amount to sufficient casrrto support reinstatement of the appellant's suit. Second, 
Ssekatawa's affidavit further stated to the effect that the allegations by Justo Thrashourras 
Diaz in his affidavit of 6.5.98 of difficulty in transferring money was false as 
international money transactions could now be concluded in a matter of hours.

approval, communication to the appellant's bakers in London and transfer of money 
through a local bank in Uganda. Third, that the appellant made an application for 
extension of time within which to deposit in Court money for security for costs. Instead 
of hearing that application, which was pending in Court at the time the leaned trial Judge 
simply dismissed the appellant's suit for its failure to deposit money with the time 
ordered by the High Court. Fourth, that the appellant bank had sent (presumably to Diaz 
himself) a bank draff of shs. 20,000,000/=, the money required to be deposited in Court. 
Fifth, that it was in the interest of justice that the suit should be reinstated in order to have 
the issues involved judiciously adjudicated upon.

■r

The order of the High Court having been so clear namely, that it was shs.20m/= which 
was to be deposited in Court, why then did the appellant not comply with the High Court 
order within the prescribed time? The underlying answer to this question, in my view, is 
to be found in reading together paragraphs 5,9 and 11 of the affidavit of Birungi Wycliff, 
paragraphs 9 and 10 of the affidavit of Justo Trashorras Diaz and grounds (a) and (b) of 
the appellant's notice of notion. In a nutshell, the answer is that the appellant deposited 
the bank guarantee due to a mistaken belief that such a guarantee would suffice as the 
security for costs by the High Court and that due to beaucratic delays in obtaining 
payment of money from the appellant at its office in Spain and difficulty in transferring 
of money internationally more time was necessary than was available for the appellant to 
comply with the High Court order. From all this, in my view, an inference may be drawn 
to the effect that the appellant needed more time in which to transfer the required money 
from Spain to Uganda.
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With regard to the alleged mistaken belief on the part of the appellant’s counsel. I would 
say this:

1

Support for inference that appellant needed more time is found in the appellant’s efforts 
to extend time within which to deposit cash. According to paragraph 5 of Birungi 
Wyciffs affidavit of 27.2.1998, the appellant's application for extension of time was filed 
on 20.2.1998. This was after the date for depositing security for costs, namely, 
16.2.1998, had passed, but it was before the suit was dismissed on 25.2.1998. The 
respondent concedes that the appellant made such an application. It also agrees with the 
appellant that the application was not heard on the day it should have been done. Instead 
the suit was dismissed on that day.

The decisions in Kevorkian vs. Burney and Gatti vs. Shoosmith have been followed by 
courts in East Africa and Uganda in cases where an applicant has to show "sufficient 
cause" for extension of time. In the case of Shabir Bin Ram Parkrash Auand (1955). 22

The question of whether an "oversight", "mistake", "negligence" or "error", as the case 
may be, on the part of counsel should be visited on a party the counsel represents and 
whether it constitutes "sufficient reason" or "sufficient cause" justifying discretionary 
remedies from courts has been discussed by courts in numerous authorities. Those 
authorities deal with different circumstances; and may relate to extension of time for 
doing a particular act, frequently in cases where time has already run over; some of them 
concern setting aside axparte judgement or reinstating dismissed suit such as in the 
present case. But, they have the common feature whether a party shall, or shall not, be 
permanently deprived of the right of putting forward a bona fide claim or defence by 
reason of the default and of his professional advisor or advisor’s clerk. The interests of 

‘ the party who has obtained, or is in a position to obtain, a permanent advantage by reason 
of such default, and of the unfortunate and perfectly innocent party who has been 
deprived of a right through no fault of his own, are irreconcilable, and the courts have 
always found difficulty in deciding who is to suffer. Without going through the 
authorities at length, it may be said that the English authorities prior to re Helsby (1894) 1 
QB 742 generally led to the conclusion that the fault of the professional advisor should 
not be visited on his client, and that the matter should be reopened on terms, so as to 
enable the point of substance to be dealt with. After the decision in re Helsby the tide 
flowed the other direction and it was generally held that the client must suffer for his 
advisor's mistake. This position is most clearly set out by the English Court of Appeal in 
Coles vs. Ravenshear (1907) 1KB 1. It was not, however, until a much later date that the 
reasons for this change were clearly understood. Inspite of the decision in Baker v Baber 
(1908) W. N. 9, Coles vs. Ravenshear was still generally believed to contain the whole 
law on the subject. It was untilATuwtoi v Burney (1937) All E. R. 97 and Gatti v 
Shoosmith (1939) 3 All E. R. 916: that the law was clearly understood. They explained 
that Re Helsby and the cases following it were decided on the words "special leave" or 
"special reasons", and that if there were no requirement of "special" grounds the matter 
must be open and the court's discretion unfettered.
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Other authorities in which the same principles have been applied are Bray v R. J. Bray. 
(1957) E. A. 302.Haji Nurdin Matovu vs. Ben Kiwanuka, Civil Application No. 12/91 
(SCU)(unreported) and Alexander Jo Okello vs. Kayondo & Co. Advocates, Civil 
Application No. 17/96 (SCU)(unreported).

On the basis of the authorities referred to above I consider that the present case is one 
where the error on the part of counsel in the form of a mistaken belief that a bank 
guarantee would suffice, should not be visited on the appellant, especially in view of the 
fact that the appellant showed an intention to bring cash. In.the circumstances the failure 
to deposit money within the prescribed time due to such error on the part of the 

‘ appellant's counsel would amount to sufficient cause for purposes of setting aside the 
dismissal of the suit under 0.23 r.2(2) of the Civil Procedure rules.

E.A.C.A 48, it was held that the mistake or misunderstanding of the plaintiffs legal 
advisor, even though negligent, may be accepted as a proper ground for granting relief 
under the equivalent of our Order 19 rule 20, of the Civil Procedure Rules,the discretion 
of the court being perfectly free and the words "sufficient cause" not being comparable or 
synonymous with "special grounds". Whether the grounds for granting relief will be 
acceptable depends on the facts of the particular case.

The instant case, in my view, is distinguishable from that of Patrick Njoroge Nguri vs. 
Linvingstone Wanji Muthuri (1955) vol. 22 E. A. C. A 43. In that case a suit was 
dismissed in the High Court of Kenya due to the plaintiffs absence. An application to set 
aside the dismissal was allowed on terms, one of which was that the plaintiff should 
furnish security for costs by a certain date with this term, due to lack of funds, the 
plaintiff was unable to comply, and the suit was dismissed. The plaintiff successfully 
applied to have the dismissal set aside. The defendant appealed to the East African Court 
of Appeal which held, inter alia, that mere lack of funds is not "sufficient cause" under an 
equivalent of our 0.23 r.2(2). On the face of it that case would appear to support the 
respondent absolutely in the instant case. The facts were somewhat similar to those in the 
instant case in certain respects. When the plaintiffs suit was called for hearing on 
19.3.52 in the High Court of Kenya at Nakuru, the plaintiff was absent but he was 
represented by counsel. Counsel found himself unable to proceed because he could not 
call witnesses Rudd J. dismissed the suit, but a stay was given for such time as would 
enable an application to be made to reinstate the suit. On 10.4.53 that application having 
been duly made, was allowed on terms. One term was that shs. 1000 security should be 
furnished by the plaintiff by 25.4.52, and the costs thrown away should be paid. Counsel 
for the plaintiff tendered to the Registrar just before time ran out a bond for shs. 1000 in 
purported compliance with the order for security for costs. The Registrar refused to 
accept it. The reason for refusing appears to be that the order made by Rudd, J was 
clearly not an order for security in the sum of shs. 1000/= to the satisfaction of the 
Registrar as was sometimes made, but was an order for lodgment of shs. 1000/= cash. 
The reason for offering the bond instead of lodging cash as security was set out with 
complete candour in an affidavit of the plaintiff and was simply that he could not then 
raise the necessary money. There was no reason to suppose that either he or his counsel
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One of the grounds in support of the application for reinstating the suit in the instant case 
was stated in paragraph (e) of the notice of motion and paragraph 9 of Diaz's affidavit, to 
which I have already referred in this judgment.

Diaz deponed to that affidavit in his capacity as the Secretary General of the appellant 
Bank. Paragraph 14 of the affidavit stated:

"That whatever is stated herein above is true to the best of my knowledge and belief by 
virture of my position in the applicant/plaintif bank save that in paragraph 7 which is 
information obtasined from our lawyers M/s Birungi, Semuyaba, Iga Co. Advocates"

The One distinction between that case and the instant is that in that case neither the 
plaintiff nor his counsel put forward as a ground for setting aside the dismissal of the suit 

‘ that they had had a mistaken belief that a bond of shs.1000 would suffice as security for 
costs. The reason given for non-compliance with the court order in that case was lack of 
funds. In contrast to the position in that case, affidavit evidence in the instant case was 
that counsel had had a mistaken belief that a bank guarantee would suffice. A more 
important distinction however is on grounds of substantive justice due to the grounds 
stated in the appellant’s notice of motion. The instant case should therefore, he treated 
differently from the Patrick Njoroge Nguri case.

"8. That what is stated herein is true to the best of my knowledge.
9. That I swear this affidavit in opposition to he Applicant's application for 

reinstatement of this suit.

What Diaz said in paragraph 9 of his affidavit was purportedly controverted by paragraph 
5 of Ssekatawa's affidavit, which I have set out in this judgement. Then the last two 
paragraphs of the same affidavit stated as follows:

ever thought that the bond would be accepted by the Registrar, or would be a sufficient 
compliance with the learned Judge's order for security. On 28.4.5J, the plaintiff, having 
succeeded in raising some money, lodged shs. 1000/= in court but this lodgment was, of 
course, out of time, and was therefore not a sufficient compliance with the learned 
Judge's order. On 17.12.52 the defendant moved for dismissal of the action on the 
ground that the terms of Rudd, J's order had not been complied with and Hanley, J 
dismissed the action under an equivalent of our 0.23 r.2(2). The plaintiff was duly 
represented. Thereafter the plaintiff applied for setting aside of the dismissal. The 
application was allowed by Mayers, J. From that order the defendant appealed 
successfully.

In relation to Diaz's affidavit Ssekatawa's affidavit call's for the following comments. 
First the deponent did not disclose the means of his knowledge. In the case of Caspair

vs Harry Gandy (1962) EA 414 the Court of Appeal for East Africa held that an 
affidavit sworn by counsel for a party in the case was defective, because the affidavit did 
not disclose the deponent's means of knowledge or the grounds of his belief in the matters 
set out in the affidavit, nor did it distinguish between mattes stated on information and
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- Third if the contents of paragraph 9 of Diaz's affidavit was false, as it was alleged in 
paragraph 5 of Ssekatawa’s affidavit, the best procedure, in my view, was for the 
respondent to cross-examine Diaz on his affidavit. This was not done.

t^lief and matters to which the deponent swore from his own knowledge. In my view the 
decision in Caspair Ltd is still good law.

In the circumstances, in my opinion, Ssekatawa’s affidavit was fatally defective and 
cannot be accepted in opposition to the Diaz's affidavit. It should not have been admitted 
in evidence.

In the circumstances my view, with respect, is that had the Court of Appeal reevaluated 
the evidence in the appellant's application for reinstating the suit, as it was its duty to do, 
it would have come to the conclusion that the appellant had showed sufficient cause.

i

I

'W
V’J..

”... the principles which this court applies when deciding whether to 
interfere with the exercise of discretion by a trial Judge are well known 
and are set out in such decisions such as Mbogo vs. Shah (1968) EA 93, 
where Newbold, at page 96 stated that the principle to be that:

I turn now to the issue of how the Court of Appeal dealt with the High Court's exercise of 
its unfettered discretion in this case. It is now well settled law that an appellate court 
should not interfere with the exercise of unfettered discretion of a trial court unless it is 
satisfied the trial court misdirected itself in some matter and as a result arrived at a wrong 
decision, or unless it is manifest from the case as a whole that the trial court was clearly 
wrong in exercise of its discretion and that as a result there was a failure of justice, 
Mbogo and Another vs. Shah (1968) E.A. 93; Halderkumar Mohindra vs. Mathuradevi 
Mohinda, Civil Appeal No.34/1952. EACA; H.K.Shah & Anor vs. Osman Al hi (1974) 14 
EACA;t 45;M.B. Patel vs. R, Gottifried (1963) 20 EACAt 81. Haji Nurdin Matovu vs. 
Ben Kiwanuka, Civil Application No. 12 of 1991 (SCU) (unreported).

Second, even if Ssekatawa’s affidavit was not defective; it was sworn to disprove 
t allegations which were contentious. It purported to disprove allegations of facts by 

Diaz's affidavit that there were delays in releasing money from the appellant bank and 
that there were problems in transmitting money internationally tlirough Spain to a bank in 
Uganda. It also at the same time purported to prove that transmission of money 
internationally can now be concluded in a matter of hours; and that the allegations in 
Diaz's affidavit about difficulty in transmitting money from Spain to Uganda was false. 
Allegations in Diaz’s affidavit in this regard are technical matters, knowledge of which 
counsel is not expected to have unless, of course, he is well armed with the relevant 
source. It is in my opinion undesirable for counsel to be a witness for his client in a case 
such as this one.

In Uganda Development Bank vs. National Insurance and Another (SCU) (unreported) 
this court said this on page 7 of its judgment.
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What the court said in Uganda Development Bank(supra) is still good law.
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A mere difference of opinion between the appellate court and the lower 
court as to the proper order to make is no sufficient ground for interfering 
with a discretion which has been exercised in the court below. There must 
be shown to be an unjudicial exercise of discretion at which no judge 
could reasonably arrive whereby injustice has been done to the party 
complaining: Shah Allu (supra)

Though there is a presumption in favour of judicial discretion being 
rightly exercised, an appellate court may look at the facts to ascertain if 
discretion has been rightly exercised; Mot vs. Chanchalbhai (1915) 116 
6EALR.1.”

v

”... a Court of Appeal should not interfere with the exercise 
of the discretion of a Judge unless it is satisfied that the 
Judge in exercising his discretion has misdirected himself 
in some matter and as a result has arrived at a wrong 
decision or unless it is manifest from the case as a whole 
that the Judge has been clearly wrong in the exercise of his 
discretion that as a result there has been a misjustice."

* In the instant case the grounds and affidavit evidence on which the learned trial Judge 
exercised her discretion in favour of the appellant have already been set out in this 
judgement.

In a case such as the present, as 1 have mentioned before in this judgment, there is, on the 
one hand, the necessity for the rules to be followed, and on the other, the need for courts 
to control their proceedings and not to be inhibited by the rules of procedure. As George, 
C.J. said in Essaji vs. Solanki (1968) EA 2,8 218 at 222 the administration of justice 
should normally require that the substance of all disputes should be investigated and 
decided on their merits, and that errors, lapses should not necessarily debar a litigant from 
the pursuit of his rights. Unless a lack of adherence to rules renders the appeal process 
difficult and inoperative, it would seem that the main purpose of litigation, namely, the 
hearing and determination of disputes, should be fostered rather that hindered. This, of 
course, does not mean that rules of procedure should be ignored. JEach case must he 
decided on the basis of its own circumstances.

There, principle are referred to in various terms. In Famus Cycle 
Agencies, Civil Appeal No. 16 of 1994 and Yahaya Kiriisa vs, Attorney 
General Civil Appeal No. 7 of 1994 (SCU) 9unrepor(ed)- Judicial 
discretion must he exercised on fixed principles: Jet ha vs. Singh (1931) 
LRKI- where there has been no improper exercise of descetion, the Judge’s 
decision cannot normally be upset: Devji vs. Jinabhai (1934) 1 EACA 89.
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The ruling and order of the learned trial Judge were in the following terms:

Ground 8 was abandoned.

A
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In the circumstances, and for the reasons I have given in this judgment I have no doubt 
that the learned trial judge properly exercised her discretion by setting aside the dismissal 
of the appellant’s suit. With the greatest respect, therefore, the learned Justices of Appeal 
should not have interfered with the exercise of that discretion. Grounds 1,2,3,4 and 5 of 
appeal should, therefore, succeed.

What I have said in respect of grounds 1 to 5, in my view, disposes of this appeal. It is, 
therefore, unnecessary for me to consider grounds 6 and 7 of the appeal.

A.H.O. ODER, 
JUSTICE OF SUPREME COURT.

"Upon hearing both counsel in this application, I think the applicant made 
out a case in which the court can exercise its discretion and set aside the 
dismissal. The suit is reinstated to be heard on merit.”

The learned counsel for the respondent critised the ruling and order on the ground that the 
learned trial Judge did not indicate which grounds or criteria she accepted as amounting 
to sufficient cause to justify reinstatement of the appellant's suit especially, it is

• contended, as some of the reasons were contradictory to others. To my mind this 
criticism is not justified because the learned trial Judge took into consideration all the

• evidence and submissions of both the parties. She accepted the appellant's evidence and 
submissions which supported its application for reinstatement of the suit and rejected the 
respondent’s. The brevity of the ruling and order of the court, in the circumstances of this 
case, in my view, was not an error causing a miscarriage of justice.

ft.'

In the result, I would allow this appeal with costs here and in the Court of Appeal. The 
cost of application in the High Court should go to the respondent as it was a thrown away 
cost. I would also set aside the orders of the Court of Appeal and substitute it with 
restoring the orders of the High Court which set aside the dismissal of the appellant's suit 
and ordered the trial of the suh to.continue. / !

Dated atMengothis......ST....'.?..........Day of..1999?^^\ v



THE REPUBLIC OF UGANDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF UGANDA

AT MENGO

(CORAM: ODER.TSEKOOKO.KAROKORA.MULENGA AND

KANYEIHAMBA.JJSC)

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 8 OF 1998

BETWEEN

BANCO ARABE ESPANOL APPELLANT

AND

BANK OF UGANDA RESPONDENT

I
I An appeal from the decree and decision of the Court of Appeal

at Kampala (Manyindo DC.J , Engwau and Twinomujiini ,

J.JA) dated IR'1' December. 199ft, in ('ourt of Appeal Civil Appeal

No. 23 of 1997/

JUDGEMENT OF TSEKOOKO JSC:

1 have had the benefit of reading in draft the judgment prepared by my

learned brother the Hon.Mr. Justice Oder, Justice of the Supreme

Court .which he has just delivered and I agree that this appeal should be

allowed with costs in the terms proposed by him.

The facts of the case have been set out in the said judgment of my learned brother and I

need not repeat them here save to say that in the appeal the appellant asks us to reverse the

I
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judgement of the Court of Appeal which held that the trial judge erred when she set aside

her order dismissing the suit and instead reinstated the suit for hearing and determination

on merit.

The appeal is based on 8 grounds which have been set out in the judgement of

Oder Justice of the Supreme Court. Grounds I and 2 read

“1. That learned Judges of the Court of Appeal cried in law and fact when they held that

there was not sufficient cause for reinstatement of the suit by the High Court.

2. The learned Judges of the Court of Appeal erred in fact and law when the}' failed to

reappraise, evaluate and consider the evidence for failure to deposit the money for

affidavit in reply.”

At the hearing of the appeal, Mr. Semuyaba, counsel for the appellant supported the

decision of the trial judge and contended that the Court of Appeal erred when it reversed

the decision of the trial judge who exercised her discretion properly when she reinstated

no sufficient cause upon which the learned trial judge exercised her discretion to set aside

the merits was unjustified.

Mr. Mascmbe- Kanyerezi based his contentions on two points first (hat failure by the

trial judge to give reasons in support of her dicision vitiated her ruling. The second

contention is that paragraph 5 of the affidavit of Birungi Wycliff sworn on 27/2/1998

2

the suit. Mr. Masembe - Kanyerezi, Counsel for the respondent , contended that there was

the dismissal order and that the reinstatement of the suit for hearing and determination on

security for costs in time which evidence was not rebutted in the High Court by an

conflicted with Paragraphs 3,4, 5 and 9 of the affidavit of Juslo Trashorras sworn on
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BETWEEN
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RESPONDENTBANK OF UGANDA 

(Manyindo,

JUDGMENT OF KAROKORA, J.S.C.

e iI have had the benefit of reading in draft the judgment of Oder, J.S.C.

I would also agree withagree with him that the appeal should be allowed.

the orders he proposed.

clay of , 1999.Dated at Mengo this 

A.N. KAROKORA, 
JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME COURT.

(Appeal from the decision and Orders 
of the Court of Appeal at Kampala

D.C.J., Engwau, 
Twinomujuni, J. J A) in Civil Appeal 
No. 23 of 1998 dated 1.12. 1998)
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF UGANDAI
HOLDEN AT MENGO

CORAM: ODER, TSEKOOKO, KAROKORA, MULENGA, KANYEIHAMBA,

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 8. OF 1998

BETWEEN

BANCO ARABE ESPANOL APPELLANT

AND

RESPONDENT' BANK OF UGANDA

e
JUDGMENT OF MULENGA, JSC.

This is an appeal against a decision of the Court of Appeal which overturned

2(2) of the Civil Procedure Rules, reinstating the appellant’s suit, which had

been dismissed under r.2 (1) of the same order, for failure to comply with

terms of an order of security for costs.

The substance of the decision of the Court of Appeal was in effect that the

High Court ought not to have reinstated the suit because the appellant had

not shown sufficient cause for the failure to furnish the security for costs, as

ordered.

The facts of the case are so ably set out in the judgment of my learned •

brother, Oder JSC which he has just read, that there is no need for me to

I had opportunity to read that judgment in draft and I agree

the proposed orders.

repeat them.

with the conclusion that the appeal ought to succeed, and I also agree with 

However, owing to the significance of the issues that

(Appeal from the decision and orders of the Court of 
Appeal (Manyindo DCJ, Engwau and Twinomujuni JJ.A.) 
at Kampala in Civil Appeal no. 23 of 1998 dated 7.12.98.

an order of the High Court. The High Court order was made under O..23 r.



this appeal raises, I shall add my views thereon from a slightly different

perspective.

In my view the starting point, if not the cornerstone of this appeal, is the

• answer to the appellant’s complaint against the Count of Appeal presented

It is common ground that while the Court's power to dismiss a suit, under)

0.23 r.2 (1) is automatic upon the plaintiff's failure to comply with an order

for security for costs, the power to reinstate such dismissed suit under r.2

The pertinent provisions of 0.23 are brief and it is(2) is discretionary.

expedient to reproduce them here:

2.

3.

2

The Court may if it deems fit order a plaintiff in any suit 
to give security for the payment of all costs incurred by 
any defendant.
(1) !n the event of such security not being furnished 
within the time fixed, the Court shall make an order 
dismissing the suit unless the plaintiff or plaintiffs are 
permitted to withdraw therefrom.
(2) Where a suit is dismissed under this rule the plaintiff 

may apply for an order to set the dismissal aside, 
and if it is proved to the satisfaction of the Court 
that he was prevented by any sufficient cause from 
furnishing the security within the time allowed, the 
Court shall set aside the dismissal upon such terms 
as to security, costs or otherwise as it thinks fit, and 
shall appoint a day for proceeding with the suit.

i

as the fourth ground of appeal. It reads:

"4. The learned Justices of the Court of Appeal erred in 
law when they interfered in the exercise of the 
discretion of the trial Judge to set aside the dismissal 
order of the suit and to order a reinstatement of the 
suit."

"ORDER XX III 
SECURITY FOR COSTS.
1.



It is evident from the provisions that the court has no alternative but to

dismiss the suit under r.2 (1), in the event of the non-compliance with terms

of the order of security for costs made under r.1. However, where an

application for reinstateinent of the dismissed suit is made under r.2 (2), the

court has disrection to either set aside the dismissal, or not to do so. Mr.

Masembe-Kanyerezi, Counsel for the Respondent, forcefully argued that

for non-compliance is first proved to be sufficient cause to the satisfaction of .

the court. He pointed out that in the instant case the learned trial judge had

0 not indicated in her ruling which of the reasons given had satisfied her as

sufficient cause, and that when the Court of Appeal, in exercise of its duty

Counsel argued that in the circumstances the Court of Appeal was correct to

although under r.2 (2) the trial court has discretion, the discretion is 

circumscribed and cannot be exercised to reinstate the suit unless the reason

hold that no sufficient cause was proved supporting an order for reinstating 

the suit.

i
i

With due respect to Counsel, it is clear to my mind that his persuasive 

argument is flowed in one fundamental aspect. It is trite that on an appeal 

against a decision made in exercise of discretion the appellate court will not 

interfere with the trial court’s decision unless it was arrived at unjudicially. 

In such a case therefore the primary duty of the appellate court is to consider

as a first appellate court, re-appraised the evidence it came to its own 

conclusion that the alleged reasons for non-compliance were not established.

whether or not the trial court exercised its discretion judicially. Although the 

appellate court would for that purpose have to consider the evidence, its 

concern is not to re-appraise or re-evaluate it with a view to coming to its 

own conclusion but whether there is evidence in support of the trial court's 

conclusion. This position of the law has been expressed diversely in 

different precedents. Thus in the decision of the Court of Appeal for East
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Africa in MBOGO vs. SHAH (1968) E/a 98, Sir Clement de Lcstang, V-P. said al
!

p.94 H-1:

1

wrong

Sir Charles Newbold, P., on the other hand, put it thus at p.96 G-H:

(unreported). In the leading judgment with which Oder and Odoki JJ.S.C.

concurred Tsekooko JSC, after citing with approval the above mentioned
( passage in the judgement of Sir Charles Newbold, P. and referring to several

other precedents concluded:

‘The Supreme Court also addressed the same issue in UGANDA developt/ient

BANK VS. NATIONAL INSURANCE CORPORATION, Civil Appeal No.28 of 1995

"  a Court of Appeal should not interfere with the 
exercise of the discretion .of a Judge unless it is 
satisfied that the Judge in exercising his discretion had 
misdirected himself in some matter and as a result' has 
arrived at a wrong decision, or unless it is manifest 
from the case as a whole that the Judge has been 
clearly wrong in the exercise of his discretion and that 
as a result there has been misjustice''.

"A mere difference of opinion between the appellate 
court and the lower court as to the proper order to 
make is no sufficient ground for interfering with a 
discretion which has been exercised in the Court 
below. There must be shown to be an unjudicial 
exercise of the discretion or an exercise of discretion at 
which no Judge could reasonably arrive whereby 
injustice has been done to the party complaining: SHAH 
VS. ALLU, (1947)14 EACA 45"

"/ think it is well settled that this Court will not 
interfere with the exercise of its discretion by an 
inferior Court unless it is satisfied that its decision is 
dearly wrong because it has misdirected itself or 
because it has acted on matters on which it should not 
have acted or because it has failed to take into 
consideration matters which it should have taken into 
consideration and in doing so arrived at a 
conclusion. "
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Mr. Masembe -

respect, I do not agree.

appreciate that with the pressure of work on them, it may be understandable

when they do. What is important, particularly in the instant case, is to

consider whether or not there was material before the trial Court on which it

that extent, in my view there is a distinction to be drawn between an appeal

In the

former cases however the appellate court may interfere with the conclusions

of the trial Court only where it is shown that the trial court exercised its

r>

It is quite evident from this passage that the Court of Appeal 

substituting its own conclusions on the affidavit evidence as more accurate

against a decision based on a descretion and an appeal against a decision on 

ordinary findings of fact. In the latter the appellate court is under duty to re­

hear the case and draw its own conclusions save that where the decision

discretion unjudicially. It is from that point of view that the Court of Appeal 

ought to have examined the evidence in the instant case.

My learned brother Oder, JSC, has exhaustively dealt with the re-evaluation 

and the inferences to be drawn from the affidavit evidence before the trial

that the respondent had no serious intention to pay the 
security in cash. In my view, the alleged bureaucratic 
procedures and delays in the transfers were an 
afterthought" (emphasis added)

depends on the manner and demeanour of witnesses^ it must keep in mind 

that it did not see or l?ad the witnesses which the trial court did.

than the conclusion in the ruling of the learned trial judge.

Kanyerezi highlighted this before us, when he reiterated that because the 

trial Judge gave no reasons for the ruling it was open for the Court of Appeal 

to interfere with her finding that sufficient cause had been shown. With due

Although I would not encourage trial courts to 

routinely omit giving reasons for their decisions on such issues, I do

could reasonably have exercised its direction in the manner that it did. To



observations.

In the

February 1998) that before expiry of the period the Court had prescribed for

guarantee in lieu of the cash payment. It appears from the said affidavit of

before expiry of the prescribed period, and that when they did so the

Advocates mistakenly believed that the guarantee would be a suitable

substitute for the cash security ordered. It seems to me that the two

reasons, namely the bureaucratic procedure and delays, and the mistaken

7

WYCLIFF BiRUNGi, that the guarantee was obtained and was submitted t the 

Deputy Registrar of the High Court on the 13lh February 1998, just two days

January, 1998 he was present in Uganda and thereafter 

returned to Spain to arrange for remittance of the money ordered, but the 

remittance was not effected within the prescribed time owing to bureaucratic

In his submissions that sufficient cause was not shown, Counsel for the 

Respondent stressed that in its application for reinstatement the appellant 

had given two contradictory reasons why it did not comply with the terms of 

the order. In my view, upon taking the evidence as a whole, it appears that 

.what is made out as contradiction is not such contradiction after all.

affidavit sworn by the Appellant's General Secretary, JUSTO TRASHORRAS Diaz 

on 6lb May 1998, he avers that when the order of security for costs was 

made on 16"‘

belief that the guarantee was su’table substitute for cash deposit, were 

complimentary rather than contradictory of each other. It is quite plausible 

that while initially it was thought, on the part of the appellant, that the cash 

would be remitted within the prescribed period, when it became apparent

procedures involved in approving such payments and to delays in making 

International money transfers. He further avers, (and this confirms what is

averred in the affidavit sworn earlier by WLCUFF BIRUNGI Advocate on 27th

instructed to obtain athe payment, the appellant's Advocates were

court in the instant case. I agree with his conclusions. I would only add two



Apparently that application was fixed for hearing on 25

neither in issue nor material to the appeal) the fact is not disputed. Indeed

the record of proceedings shows that when the parties appeared on 25.2.98,

the learned trial judge first dismissed the suit, as required under 0.23 r. 2,

whereupon Mr. Semuyaba, counsel for the applicant said:

"Since the suit has been dismissed, /pray to withdraw this application."

The application was thereupon dismissed with costs.

s

hold that, given the affidavit evidence before the learned trial judge, it cannot 

be said that she exercised her discretion unjudicialiy.

My second observation is on the decision of the Court of Appeal for Eastern 

Africa in PATRICK NJEROGE NGUMI VS LIVINGSTONE WANJII MUT1IUI (1955) 22 

EACA 43 which Counsel for the Respondent relied on in his submission to

Given that background, I find it difficult, with all due respect, to agree with 

the Court of Appeal either that the "the alleged bureaucratic procedures and 

delays in the transfers were an afterthought" or that no sufficient cause was 

shown for setting aside the dismissal. More importantly however. I would

February 1998.

Although copy of that application was not made part of the record of appeal ■ 

in this Court, (despite inclusion of numerous other documents that were

that it could not be, the attempt to substitute the guarantee for cash was 

made. That to my mind is the rational explanation why the Appellant's 

Advocates had to write to the respondent's Advocates, on the same day, 

not only to communicate that the guarantee had been deposited in court, but 

• to advance argument with authority that the substitute was correct.

To my mind this view is further supported by the next step taken by the 

Appellant. The said WYCLIFFE BIRUNGI further avers in his affidavit that on 

20th February 1998, five days after the period expired, but before the suit 

was dismissed, the Appellant filed an application for extension of time.
th



The facts of that case are rather similar to those in the instant case,us.

funds, but a judge of the trial court had on that account set aside the

On appeal it was held that mere lack of funds is not "sufficientdismissal.

cause" for the purposes of the rule. In my view, that was to be expected,

considering that the basic purpose of security for costs is to protect a

defendant from being dragged into court and made to incur litigation

expenses, if there is no hope of his being reimbursed in the event of

successfully defending the suit. On that ground I would distinguish that ,

precedent from the instant case where there was some evidence that the

non-compliance was due to procedural obstacles rather than lack of funds.

It is also pertinent to observe that the court in that case stressed that it

interfered because it was evident that the judge who had set aside the

dismissal had acted under a misconception of the nature of the order of

security for costs. Briggs J.A. said at p.46

i The Court of Appeal in the instant case did not find, and this court has not

found any such similar misconception on the part of the trial court to warrant

interference with its discretion.

The concluding remarks in the judgement of Briggs J.A., in the Njoroge

9

Ngumi case (supra) are, albeit obiter, noteworthy. He said:

"I wish to add that in my opinion the plaintiff's correct 
course in the circumstances was to apply as soon as 
possible, after obtaining funds, for extension of time to 
furnish the security  If this had been done 
before the action was dismissed, I see no reason why 
the court should not have allowed the application

"We think that this misconception of the learned 
Judge's mind prevented him from exercising his 
discretion in a judicial manner, and that in consequence 
it is open to this court to deal with the matter in this 
respect as res Integra. "

with the exception that the reason for failure to comply with the order of 

security for costs had been expressly stated to be the plaintiff's lack of



•<T

In the instant case, as I have said earlier, the Appellant made application for

extension before the dismissal. On 25.2.98 the parties appeared in court.

The record does not indicate whether they had been, summoned to hear the

dismissal order or for the hearing of the application. There is no explanation

why the application was not heard before the order for dismissal was made.

As it happens, it is the same judge who dismissed the suit without first

hearing the application for extension of time, who later heard and granted

the application for setting aside that dismissal. In absence of a reasoned

ruling, I refrain from saying that she took that into consideration, but it is a

factor that could have been legitimately considered in the exercise of her

discretion. Secondly, unlike in the Njoroge Ngumi case (supra), it is not

certain in the instant case, that if the dismissal of the suit was maintained

the Appellant would be able, if it desired, to file a fresh suit on the same

cause of action. In the interests of substantive justice this point cannot be '

ignored at this stage even if at the time the learned trial judge exercised her

,1999ngo this day of

io

D^e--arMengo

J.N. MULENGA,

JUS TICE OF THE SUPREME COURT.

discretion it might have been inapplicable. Upholding the-dismissal would 

cause undue injustice to the Appellant than reinstating the suit would, if at 

all, prejudice the Respondent.

Ct

although time had run out. I also wish to add that I 
should feel great reluctance to allow this appeal, were 
it not that the plaintiff can, if he so desires, file another 
suit on the same cause of action. Where this is not so, 
the point must always be kept in mind as one of the 
factors which would affect the exercise of the 
discretion."
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF UGANDA

CIVIL APPEAL NO: 8. OP 1998

13 E T W E E N

BANCO ARABE ESPANOL »»»»»»APPELLANT

AND

BANK OE UGANDA »»»»»»»»»RESPONDENT

JUDMENT OFKANYEIHAMBA J.S.C.:

■ I have had the benefit of reading a draft the Judgment of my 
brother Oder J.S.C., and I agree with him that this appeal must be 

-dismissed. I also agree with the orders he has proposed. 1 have 
nothing further to add.

(Appeal from the decision and orders of the Court of Appeal at 
Kampala (Manyindo, D.C.J., Engwau, J.A. and Twinomujuni J. A) 
in Civil App. No. 23 of 1998 dated 1/12/1998)

(CORAM: ODER, TSEKOOKO. KAROKORA, MULENGA 
AND KANYEIHAMBA, J..1.S.C.)

H
HJSTICE OF THE SUPREME COURT

^EIHAMBA

DAY Ol7<fM,. 1999
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DATED AT MENGO THIS . tyk


